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1.0 Introduction 
C.R Archaeology were instructed by St Mary's Church, Caerhun to conduct archaeological works at 
the above site. Although the site is an active place of worship and was thus subject to Ecclesiastical 
Exemption it was considered good practice by the Bangor Diocese that the development be subject 
to an archaeological investigation. Development Control Archaeologist Jenny Emmett of Gwynedd 
Archaeological Planning Services conducted a site visit on August 5th 2016 to discuss an appropriate 
programme of works to be undertaken at the site and monitored the project. 
 
St Mary's Church was installing a composting toilet within the footprint of an old hearse house on the 
church perimeter wall and a pathway to allow disabled access to the new facilities (see Appendix A 
for details of proposed works). It was agreed with the Bangor Diocese and GAPS that an 
archaeological watching brief would be conducted at the site and that the groundworks associated 
with the toilet installation be carried out by C.R Archaeology staff. The works were amended and the 
pathway construction methodology did not necessitate any excavation as plastic matting was utilised. 
All excavation will be by hand. 
 
St Mary's Church is strikingly situated on a rise overlooking the river Conwy and occupies the north-
eastern corner of the Roman fort of Canovium. It is accessed via a metalled lane running east from 
the B5106 Bettws-y-Coed to Conwy road (Figure 1). The church is a Grade I Listed Building (ID 
3167) and the Roman Fort of Canovium is a Scheduled Ancient Monument (SAM) CN001. The fort 
has a vicus (civilian settlement) extending to the north and there are associated features including 
roads and burials recorded on the adjacent land. 
 
The excavation covered the main pit for the composting toilet which measured 2.8m x 2m and was 
excavated to a maximum depth of 1.2m, a trench which led from this pit to a soak-away and the soak-
away itself which measured 2m x 0.8 which was excavated to a maximum depth of 0.70m. The 
excavations revealed a large accumulation of nineteenth century material which overlay a clean, 
compact grey-yellow clay layer. This layer contained no artefactual material and is believed to 
represent an up-cast layer of redeposited natural which formed the bank of the Roman Fort of 
Canovium. No artefactual material was recovered from this deposit. 
 
2.0 Project Aims 
This scheme of works aimed to conduct groundworks at the site in order to assess the survival, 
character and date of any archaeological remains and to excavate/record any archaeological remains 
uncovered. 
 
It aimed to fulfil the mitigation criteria for undertaking an Archaeological Watching Brief as specified 
in the CIfA Standard and Guidance document (2014). 
 
3.0 Scheme of Works – Methodology 
The methodologies employed conformed to The Charted Institute for Archaeologists: Standard and 
Guidance for Archaeological Watching Brief (2014). 
 
3.1 Desk Based Research 
The history of the site is well documented and no previously undiscovered features were uncovered. 
There was however part of the Roman bank deposit surviving within the trenches and therefore, in 
addition to the Cadw Listed Building description for the church and the Scheduled Ancient Monument 
description for the Fort of Canovium, the excavation report published by P. K. Baillie Reyonds was 
consulted to provide context to the feature. 
 
Works were carried out in accordance with the CIfA Standards and Guidance for Historic 
Environment Desk Based Assessment (CIfA 2014). 
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Gwynedd

Figure 1. Site Location Map - Source: OS Open Data 
(Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2016)

Site Location
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3.2 Archaeological Watching Brief 
This project specification was written to cover an archaeological watching brief but due to the 
restricted excavation area the entirety of the hand digging works at the site were undertaken by C.R 
Archaeology. The excavation covered the main pit for the composting toilet which measured 2.8m x 
2m and was excavated to a maximum depth of 1.2m, a trench which led from this pit to a soak-away 
and the soak-away itself which measured 2m x 0.8 which was excavated to a maximum depth of 
0.70m. 
 
It was initially proposed that a pathway be cut through the graveyard which connected the composting 
toilet to the main church path, but this scheme was revised and plastic matting has been utilised so no 
excavation was necessary. 
 
A C.R Archaeology staff member conducted all excavation associated with the groundworks. This 
work was undertaken by hand and the soak away is to be excavated by staff from C.R Archaeology.  
 
C.R Archaeology notified GAPS as the date of the commencement of works and updated them on the 
works. A site visit was not deemed necessary given the limited results of the works. 
 
No discrete features or features yielding suitable material for dating/environmental processing were 
encountered. Due to the likelihood of uncovering small human bones and stray Roman artefacts all 
soil removed during the excavation was coarse sieved on site and a metal detector used to check 
excavated material. It was not possible to sieve the underlying clay but it was scanned with a metal 
detector. 
 
3.2.1 The Recovery and Recording of Human Remains 
Given that the works were undertaken within a graveyard which had been in use for burial for more 
than 700 years it was considered very likely that human remains will be encountered. Different 
excavation methodologies were therefore devised which were dependant on the nature and position 
of the remains encountered. When the excavation was undertaken, due to the high level of nineteenth 
century disturbance, only disarticulated material was encountered. 
 
3.2.1.1 Disarticulated Human Remains Recovered During Excavation 
Where disarticulated human remains were encountered, they were collected and bagged. They were 
securely stored on site and were reburied on site on completion of the project. They were not subject 
to any analysis. 
 
3.2.2 Recording 
The record forms at C.R Archaeology are based on the Historic England system and full written, 
graphic and photographic records were made in accordance with the Historic England Field 
Recording Manual. Sample forms can be provided on request. The written record comprises 
completed pro-forma record sheets. 
 
Plans, sections and elevations were produced on gridded, archive standard stable polyester film at 
scales of 1:10, 1:20 or 1:50, as appropriate. Representative measured sections were prepared as 
appropriate showing the sequence and depths of deposits. All drawings were numbered and listed in 
a drawing register, these drawing numbers being cross-referenced to written site records. A 'harris 
matrix' diagram was created. 
 
A high-resolution 14.2mp Sony Alpha digital camera was used to create a photographic record of the 
site. This is comprised of photographs of general trench shots at each layer reached. Included in each 
photograph was an appropriate scale. 
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All photographic records were indexed and cross-referenced to written site records. Details 
concerning subject and direction of view are maintained in a photographic register, indexed by frame 
number. Images from photography will be stored in a loss-less digital format in this case ‘*.TIF’. 
 
3.2.3 Additional Mitigation/Contingency Measures 
No additional mitigation or contingency measures were necessary. 
 
3.2.4 Recovery, Processing and Curation of Artefactual Material 
All recovered artefactual material will be retained, cleaned, labelled and stored according to Standard 
and Guidance for the collection, documentation, conservation and research of archaeological 
materials (IfA 2008) and First Aid for Finds (Watkinson & Neal 2001). The aim will be to create a 
stable, ordered, well-documented, accessible material archive forming a resource for current and 
future research (IfA 2008). 
 
A mixture of late nineteenth and twentieth century was uncovered within the mixed upper deposit. 
Nothing of note was recovered or retained. 
 
The works will be carried out in accordance with The Chartered Institute for Archaeologists: Standard 
and Guidance for Archaeological Watching Brief (Revised 2008 & 2014). 
 
3.2.5 Archive Compilation 
All records created during the fieldwork will be checked for consistency and accuracy and will form 
part of the Primary Site Archive (P1) (EH 2006). The archive will contain all data collected, including 
records and other specialist materials. It will be ordered, indexed, adequately documented, internally 
consistent, secure, quantified, conforming to standards required by the archive repository and 
signposted appropriately to ensure future use in research, as detailed in the English Heritage 
Management of Research Projects in the Historic Environment (MoRPHE) methodology. 
 
The archive will be assembled in accordance with the guidelines published in, Standards in the 
museum care of archaeological collections (Museums & Galleries Commission 1994), Guidelines for 
the preparation of excavation archives for long-term storage (United Kingdom Institute for 
Conservation, 1990) and Archaeological Archives: A guide to best practice in creation, compilation, 
transfer and curation (AAF 2007). 
 
All materials contained within the Primary Site Archive (P1) that are subsequently identified by the 
Assessment Report (P2) as appropriate for analysis will be processed by suitable specialists and the 
resultant Research Archive (P3) will be checked and ordered according to MoRPHE criteria. 
 
Archival material created during this archaeological project will be deposited at the RCAHMW as 
the artefactual assemblage is to be retained by the church. The exception to this would be if artefacts 
are to be deposited in a museum – and in this instance the paper archive will accompany the artefacts. 
Archive material will be deposited in accordance with the RCAHMW/museum’s terms and 
conditions for archive deposition. 
 
3.3 Timetable for Proposed Works 
Initial groundworks commenced on the 19th December and took 2 days. Further works began on the 
27th December and took a further 3 days. Additional time was allotted as necessary for archive 
research, report compilation and site archiving. Gwynedd Archaeological Planning Services were 
informed of the exact site days to allow monitoring of works. 
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3.4 Staffing 
Fieldwork was conducted and managed by Matthew Jones and Catherine Rees of C.R Archaeology. 
A local A Level student hoping to study archaeology at university assisted as a volunteer on site. She 
was fully supervised at all times and training as to excavation techniques was given.  
 
All projects are carried out in accordance with CIfA Standard and Guidance documents. 
 
3.5 Monitoring 
Although the site does have Ecclesiastical Exemption it was agreed that project would be subject to 
monitoring by Gwynedd Archaeological Planning Services. The monitor was given prior notice of 
the commencement of the fieldwork.  
 
They were notified in writing (via email) of the commencement dates for archaeological site work 
and were updated with the results of the works conducted.  
 
3.6 Health and Safety 
A risk assessment was conducted prior to the commencement of works and site staff were familiarised 
with its contents.  A first aid kit was located in the site vehicle. 
 
All staff were issued with appropriate Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) for the site work. This 
consisted of: 
 

• Safety Helmets (EN397) 
• Hi-visibility vests (EN471) 
• Safety footwear – steel toecap and mid-sole boots and Wellingtons (EN345-47) 

 
All paid staff have passed at least a CITB health and safety test at operative level and carry a 
Construction Related Organisation (CRO) White Card for Archaeological Technician (Code 5363). 
 
C.R Archaeology staff also comply with all Health and Safety Policy or specific on-site instructions 
provided by the client or their appointed Principal contractor or H&S coordinator. 
 
3.7 The Report 
The report clearly and accurately incorporates information gained from the programme of 
archaeological works. It presents the documentary evidence gathered in such a way as to create a 
clear and coherent record.  
 
The report includes: 
 

• A copy of the design brief and agreed specification 
• A location plan 
• All identified features and significant finds plotted on an appropriately scaled site plan 
• Full dimensional and descriptive detail of all identified finds and features 
• A full bibliography of sources consulted 
• An archive compact disc 

 
A copy of the report in Adobe PDF format will be sent to the appropriate monitoring archaeologist 
for approval before formal submission. A bound paper copy and PDF digital copy of the report will 
be submitted as part of the formal submission. A digital Adobe PDF version and a bound paper copy 
of the final report and will be lodged with the Gwynedd Historic Environment Record within six 
months of completion of the project. 
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3.7.1 Copyright 
C.R Archaeology and sub-contractors shall retain full copyright of any commissioned reports, tender 
documents or other project documents, under the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 with all 
rights reserved; excepting that it hereby provides a licence to the client and the local authority for the 
use of the report by the client and the local authority in all matters directly relating to the project as 
described in the Project Specification. 
 
4.0 Geographical and Geological Context 
4.1 Topography 
St Mary's Church is strikingly situated on a rise overlooking the river Conwy and occupies the north-
eastern corner of the Roman fort of Canovium. It is a rural setting just off the B5106. The church is 
in use for active worship. 
 
4.2 Geology 
The bedrock is recorded as “Denbigh Grits Formation - Mudstone, Siltstone And Sandstone. 
Sedimentary Bedrock formed approximately 423 to 428 million years ago in the Silurian Period. 
Local environment previously dominated by deep seas. These rocks were formed in deep seas from 
infrequent slurries of shallow water sediments which were then redeposited as graded beds”. The 
superficial geology is recorded as “Till, Devensian - Diamicton. Superficial Deposits formed up to 2 
million years ago in the Quaternary Period. Local environment previously dominated by ice age 
conditions. These rocks were formed in cold periods with Ice Age glaciers scouring the landscape 
and depositing moraines of till with outwash sand and gravel deposits from seasonal and post glacial 
meltwaters” (www.mapapps.bgs.ac.uk/geologyofbritain/home.html). 
 
5.0 Historical Background 
The church is a Grade I Listed Building (ID 3167) and the following text is taken from the listing. 
 
“Location 
Strikingly situated on a rise overlooking the river Conwy on the W bank, and occupying the NE corner 
of the former Roman fort of Canovium; accessed via a metalled lane running E from the B5106 
Bettws-y-Coed to Conwy road. 
 
History 
The site originated in the second-half C1 AD as a Roman auxiliary camp, probably established by 
Agricola; archaeological evidence shows civilian occupation here continued into at least the 5th 
century. The present church is early Medieval with early C15 and C16 additions and alterations. The 
former consist of rebuilt E and W gable ends, a re-roofing of the continuous nave and chancel, and 
an added S porch. A south chapel was added apparently in 1591, by Captain Edward Williams (of 
Maes-y-Castell), and an ex situ dedication board bearing this date survives within; in addition, a 
(now very weathered) sandstone plaque above the chapel's S window is recorded as showing the arms 
of Edward Williams, together with the date as before. Despite this apparently unequivocal dating 
evidence, both the roof structure and the S and E windows of the chapel are of C15 character; the 
implication therefore is that either earlier elements have been re-used/re-set, or a pre-existing space 
has been remodelled, or that alternatively the style and construction is merely deeply antiquated. 
 
Interior 
Long, continuous nave and chancel. Simple arched-braced collar roof consisting of 31 clustered 
trusses, probably C14 or early C15; flagged floor. Late C19 figurative stained glass to western-most 
window of N wall; plain bowl font on column, presumably early Medieval. Round-arched niche to L 
of E window, a fragment of the pre-C15 E wall. c1830 Gothick furnishings with simple pews with 
moulded rails to flat bench ends. Sunk-panelled octagonal pulpit on moulded base; stall with open 
Decorated tracery. The S chapel opens out from the chancel, the supporting bressummer for its wide, 
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flat opening being carried on a figurative engaged capital set into the E wall; this is perhaps C13 
and is re-set. 2-bay roof with arched-braced collar truss with plain struts; protruding dowels and 
chamfered decoration. Above the chapel's E window is a long oak board bearing the inscription in 
raised letters: 'EDWARDVS : WILL: IAMES: AR: ET: / GRACEA: UXOREI: Q HOC: OPVS: FIERI/ 
FECERVNT: ANNO: DOMINI: 1591.' This refers to Captain Edward Williams of Maes-y-Castell, 
High Sheriff of Caernarvonshire in 1570. W wall mural tablet with arms cartouche to Hugh Davis of 
Caerhun, d.1721; E wall monument to Catherine Hester Hemming and family, d.1829. 2-bay vestry 
(former S porch) with C15 collar-truss roof with windbraces. 
 
Exterior 
Simple church with long, continuous nave and chancel and S chapel addition flush with the E end. Of 
random rubble construction under a renewed slate roof; the walling includes a quantity of squared 
red sandstone blocks which are probably re-used Roman material from the site. Rough-kneelered and 
stone-coped W end gable parapets with large surmounting double-bellcote. This projects slightly 
beyond the line of the W wall and is carried downwards to rest on 4 rounded corbels; in the centre of 
this projection is a carved stone crucifix in a shallow cusped, arched niche of C15 type. Depressed-
headed bell openings with triangular profiled rubble coping to flat top; central stone gablet. Deeply-
recessed W door with gently-pointed arch; C18 studded plank door. 3 post-Reformation 3-light 
mullioned leaded windows to N side, those to the L and R of re-used sandstone and slate-stone 
respectively and that to the centre with C19 pale sandstone mullions. Wide, segmentally-arranged 
sandstone voussoirs appear between the first 2 windows from L, testifying to an earlier opening. 
Simple C15 3-light mullioned E window with arched sandstone heads. Adjoining to the S and flush 
with the E end, the S chapel. This has a 2-light mullioned window to its E side with wide, cusped, 
arched heads and a similar 3-light window to its gabled S face; original ferrementa. Above, an eroded 
sandstone plaque formerly bearing the initials EW and GW flanking the Williams arms, and with the 
date 1591. 2 further post-Reformation windows to the nave S wall, that towards the W of 3 lights with 
slate mullions and that towards the E a wooden 2-light window. Beyond, towards the W end, a C15 
rubble S porch, largely rebuilt as a vestry in the C19, though retaining its W wall and roof structure. 
This now has a small, arched and cusped window to its S face, re-set and probably originally in the 
porch E wall. 
 
Reason for Listing 
Included at Grade I as a fine Medieval church of considerable architectural and historical 
significance” (www.britishlistedbuildings.co.uk). 
 
The Roman Fort at Canovium is briefly described in Coflien as “Canovium, a Roman military 
settlement set at a strategically important point on a ridge overlooking the Conwy river, is the last 
intermediate fort in a defensive chain that ran along the coastal road from Chester to Caernarfon. It 
was occupied, with some breaks, from the time of Agricola's campaign in AD 77/8 through to the the 
fourth century. The settlement centres on an auxiliary fort, a near square stone walled enclosure, 130-
140m across. This was the scene of extensive excavations in 1926-9. At the foot of the river cliff traces 
of the bathhouse explored in the early nineteenth century can be seen. The settlement is known to 
have extended along the ridge to the north, extensive remains being glimpsed from the air and in 
geophysical survey. It was fringed by cemeteries and a possible circular shrine or tomb has been 
identified on the north. There is some, though not conclusive, evidence that the nearby dock is a 
Roman structure (NPRN 303122). Roads are known to have led from the settlement, including those 
to St Asaph (NPRN 303525) and Tomen-y-Mur (NPRN 303519)” (www.coflein.gov.uk). 
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The summary for the SAM adds a little information and is included below: 
 
“A Roman military settlement set at a strategically important point on a ridge overlooking the Conwy 
river, is the last intermediate fort in a defensive chain that ran along the coastal road from Chester 
to Caernarfon. It was occupied, with some breaks, from the time of Agricola's campaign in AD 77/8 
through to the fourth century. The settlement centres on an auxiliary fort, a near square stone walled 
enclosure, 130-140m across. This was the scene of extensive excavations in 1926-9. At the foot of the 
river cliff traces of the bathhouse explored in the early nineteenth century can be seen. The settlement 
is known to have extended along the ridge to the north, extensive remains being glimpsed from the 
air and in geophysical survey. It was fringed by cemeteries and a possible circular shrine or tomb 
has been identified on the north. There is some, though not conclusive, evidence that the nearby dock 
is a Roman structure. Roads are known to have led from the settlement, including those to St Asaph 
and Tomen-y-Mur. The monument is of national importance for its potential to enhance our 
knowledge of Roman settlement and defence. It retains significant archaeological potential, with a 
strong probability of the presence of associated archaeological features and deposits. The structures 
themselves may be expected to contain archaeological information concerning chronology and 
building techniques. The scheduled area comprises the remains described and areas around them 
within which related evidence may be expected to survive” (www.cadwpublicapi.azureweb 
sites .net/reports/sam/FullReport?lang=en&id=3296). 
 
The excavation area lay in the north-western corner of the church yard, in an area on top of the 
enclosing bank of Canovium Fort. Baillie Reynolds dug two trenches through the southern and eastern 
ramparts and his descriptions and drawings are included below: 
 
“The Defences 
The Fort was defended by a clay rampart, which was subsequently strengthened by being faced with 
a stone wall, and by one ditch, which was divided into two by a midrib. 
 
The Rampart 
Complete sections were cut through the rampart on the south and east sides on the lines G-H and A-
B on the plan. 
 
South Side – In the section G-H the rampart was 24 ft. thick. At the bottom, resting on the disturbed 
surface, was a layer 3-4 inches deep of clay thrown up from the ditch. On this bedding, and forming 
a nucleus for the clay rampart, was a pile of boulders nearly 10ft. wide and about 1.8ft. high; they 
were covered by about a foot of clay from the ditch, in which was nearly a third of a Samian dish, 
Form 18, of early type, part of the rim of a frilled cup, and one or two other fragments. The pile of 
boulders was made first, since the interstices between them were not filled. Over all was a layer of 
firm blue clay, worked quite clean, which was probably brought up from the river. This was continued 
for some 10ft. south of the pile of boulders, and formed the outer face of the rampart. A single layer 
of boulders, 5ft. wide, set in a bedding of clay, formed a footing for the outer edge of the rampart. In 
this section the bank was standing to a maximum height of 5ft., but the crown had disappeared. 
 
East Side – In the section A-B the rampart had no nucleus of boulders, but there was a very definite 
core composed of various layers of clay probably thrown up from the ditch. Covering this, and 
extending outside it for 10ft. as on the southern side, was the same layer of clean blue clay, with its 
outer edge resting in the same way on a boulder footings 5ft. wide. Over the core the rampart was 
standing 5ft. 6in. high, and this may very well have been its original height. The shape of the bank 
here is peculiar; the blue clay covering conformed to the slope of the inner core till half-way down, 
but was then continued outwards for 10ft. at much the same level, even rising slightly towards the 
outer edge. A small patch of ashes in this depression showed that its surface was exposed for a short 
time at least; it was then filled up with gravel, the surface of which was exposed for a considerable 
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Figure 2. Plan 
Of Canovium
Fort Produced

By Baillie
Reynolds in 1926

Section Lines are
Marked in Orange

Figure 3. Sections
Through Fort

Ramparts
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time. Nothing was found in the rampart in this cutting” (Baillie Reynolds 1926:283-286). The plans 
and sections produced by Baillie Reynolds are included as figures 2 and 3. 
 
An extensive programme of geophysical survey was carried out by Gwynedd Archaeological Trust in 
2005. They surveyed large areas to the north and south of the fort uncovering an extensive vicus 
immediately to the north (Burnham & Davies 2010: 219). 
 
The area where the composting toilet is to be located housed a wooden shed which was removed prior 
to the commencement of works. This was positioned within the now roofless stone structure which is 
referred to locally as a coffin house. This structure was of a relatively modern date and is not shown 
on the first two editions of the Ordnance Survey Mapping (dated 1887 and 1899, figures 4 & 5). The 
structure, and the pathway upon which the soak-away was positioned, first appear on the 1919 Edition 
which was surveyed in 1911-1912 (figure 6) and are also shown on the 1953 Edition (revised 1948, 
figure 7). 
 
6.0 Results of Archaeological Works 
Excavation works were carried out in two stages. The first areas which were excavated were the soak-
away, which lay just outside the churchyard wall, and the linking trench which ran beneath the wall 
into the area previously occupied by shed. The second phase was the excavation of the composting 
chamber for the toilet. 
 
Soak-away and Connecting Trench (Figure 8, Plates 3 & 4) 
The rectangular soak-away trench was positioned immediately outside the churchyard wall and was 
within the area of an external path. The path was created between 1899 and 1911 and led along the 
outer edge of the northern churchyard wall and led to a private family graveyard plot.  
 
The excavated area measured 2m x 0.80m and was excavated to a maximum depth of 0.70m. The 
path was constructed using hardcore layers (context 101) which were made up of gravel and crushed 
slate and survived to a depth 0.10m. This overlaid a mixed demolition layer composed of slate, mortar, 
and rare irregular medium-sized stone inclusions within a mixed black organic soil matrix (context 
102). This deposit had a maximum depth of 0.40m. The lowest deposit reached was a grey-yellow 
clay layer (context 103) which was excavated to a maximum depth of 0.35m and the base of the 
deposit was not reached. The clay deposit itself is believed to be part of the rampart of the Roman 
Fort, possibly the core of the bank created from the up-cast of the material removed from the creation 
of the enclosing ditch. 
 
A linking trench 0.3m in depth was excavated beneath the churchyard wall. This excavation 
uncovered mixed 19th Century deposits against either side of the boundary wall. A stone from the wall 
foundation was removed and it appears that the churchyard wall was constructed on-top of clay 
deposit (103).  
 
Two postholes c.0.40m in diameter were excavated to allow for the repositioning of a fence in the 
churchyard (see figure 8 and plates 1 – 2). They were approximately 0.40m in depth and did not 
extend beyond a nineteenth century disturbance layer.  
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Composting Chamber (Figure 8, Plates 5 – 8) 
A roughly rectangular trench was excavated within the boundaries of an earlier stone outbuilding. It 
measured approximately 2.8m x 2m and was excavated to a maximum depth of 1.2m. 
 
The upper deposit (104) was a mixed black organic layer with lenses of mortar, loose brick and 
fragment of slate. The deposit was a maximum of 0.60m in depth. This layer was associated with the 
partial demolition of the stone shed and the levelling for the wooden structure. Modern plastic rubbish 
was encountered within the deposit.  
 
Below this was a compact layer of layered slate waste within a black organic soil matrix (105). The 
slate was a mixture of cut slate slabs, loose crushed slate and rectangular slate roof tiles. The deposit 
was between 0.12m and 0.40m in depth. The interface between layers (104) and (105) was very 
uneven as both contained a high rubble content. Context (105) may be a levelling layer associated 
with the construction of the stone outbuilding. 
 
Disarticulated and fragmentary human remains were encountered in deposits (104) and (105). These 
were collected by hand and returned to the church for reburial. Animal bone (predominantly sheep) 
was also collected from both contexts. 
 
Deposit (105) sealed a compact grey-yellow clay layer (103) which was also encountered in the soak-
away trench. The base of this deposit was not reached and it was excavated to the depth of between 
0.60m to 0.06m in order to reach the required development depth.  
 
7.0 Conclusion 
The works at Caerhun Church primarily uncovered nineteenth and twentieth century deposits 
associated with the building, partial demolition and subsequent levelling of a small stone outbuilding 
in the north-western corner of the churchyard. 
 
The lowest deposit encountered (context 103) was of interest as it was an undisturbed clay layer 
believed to be of Roman origin. Although not the blue river clay described by Baillie Reynolds it does 
correspond with the description of the lower rampart core of up-cast material from a surrounding 
ditch. A large river cobble was found within the deposit but the desired development depth and the 
safe working limit had been reached at this point and excavation was ceased. The undisturbed nature 
of the deposit does demonstrate that there is potential for intact Roman deposits within the churchyard 
and surrounding area. They are however likely to be more disturbed as one moves further into the 
graveyard area. Despite the close proximity to a large yew tree the roots do not appear to have 
penetrated the lower deposits. 
 
The profile of the rampart may have been preserved in the east facing section but due to the level of 
nineteenth century remodelling the evidence is not conclusive. 
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Figure 1. Site Location Map - Source: OS Open Data 
(Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2016)
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Drg. No.
Drn. B.Wade

Compus Twin full access

Excavations

Natsol Ltd
Tel: 01686 412653
www.natsol.co.uk

Date 20.12.12 Scaled
 to fit
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Structural opening for door
to be 1m wide if
wheel access is

required. Door outward
opening

Notes

Building footprint for COMPUS TWIN FULL ACCESS VAULTS

Building sole and internal lining boards together must extend between 60 and 75 mm over the
       edge of vault lid as shown. Less than this and the weight of the building may break off the
       flange. More than this result in too small a cubicle.

Max building weight 750kg  evenly distributed. Avoid pressure points. Use continuous sole on
        which posts rest.

Drill vault flange using universal drill bit supplied - DO NOT USE HAMMER SETTING. Drive
       turbo coach screws with washers (supplied) up through holes into building sole.

Approach path and landing area outside should NOT cause rainwater to flow into the cubical as
        this will enter through the floor hatches.

The building should have a ventilation slot somewhere since the toilet is passively vented. It is a
        good idea if this slot occurs at the top of a window pane or around a skylight. Any flies which enter the
        building will be attracted to light and if a gap of about 15mm is provided e.g. between the top of the
        glazing material and the window frame, then this can act as an escape route. Do not make gaps larger
        than about 15mm as small birds may enter the toilet cubical and start nesting in spring.

Natsol Ltd
Tel: 01686 412653
www.natsol.co.uk

not to scale

Drn. M.Waterfield

Date 10.1.13

Drg. No.

footprint for DIY builders

Compact Twin Full
Access
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1640

Grab Rail Wooden Building

Drg. No. FA 011 mw 1

Drawn: NJG altered mw

Date: 5.12.11Scale: 1:20

NatSol Ltd
Tel: 01686 412653
www.natsol.co.uk

850

NB: There are some other internal fittings which for simplicity are not
shown on this drawing. If you are constructing your own building it is
important to line the cubicle with a good quality board not less than
12mm thick in order to fix these without difficulty.
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